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 1  
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01899 

 

Plaintiffs Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing USA LLC (collectively 

“Uniloc”), by and through the undersigned counsel, hereby file this Complaint and 

make the following allegations of patent infringement relating to U.S. Patent Nos. 

8,407,609, 6,584,229 and 6,519,005 against Defendant Netflix, Inc., and allege as 

follows upon actual knowledge with respect to themselves and their own acts and 

upon information and belief as to all other matters: 

NATURE OF THE ACTION 

1. This is an action for patent infringement.  Uniloc alleges that Netflix 

infringes U.S. Patent Nos. 8,407,609 (the “’609 patent”), 6,584,229 (the “’229 

patent) and 6,519,005 (the “’005 patent”), copies of which are attached hereto as 

Exhibits A-C (collectively, “the Asserted Patents”). 

2. Uniloc alleges that Netflix directly infringes the Asserted Patents by 

making, using, offering for sale, selling, licensing and/or importing products and 

services that: (1) track digital media presentations such as Netflix Service, (2) 

perform coding of image signals using the VP9 codec and (3) perform a method for 

motion coding an uncompressed (pixel level) digital video data stream.  Uniloc 

seeks damages and other relief for Netflix’s infringement of the Asserted Patents.  

THE PARTIES 

3. Uniloc 2017 LLC is a Delaware corporation having places of business 

at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801 and 620 Newport Center 

Drive, Newport Beach, California 92660.   

4. Uniloc Licensing USA LLC is a Delaware corporation having places 

of business at 1209 Orange Street, Wilmington, Delaware 19801 and 620 Newport 

Center Drive, Newport Beach, California 92660.    

5. Uniloc holds all substantial rights, title and interest in and to the 

Asserted Patents. 

6. Upon information and belief, Defendant Netflix, Inc., is a corporation 
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organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware, with at least the 

following places of business in this District:  5808 Sunset Blvd, Los Angeles, CA 

90028 and 335 N. Maple Dr. Beverly Hills, CA 90210.  Netflix can be served with 

process by serving its registered agent for service of process in California: CT 

Corporation System, 818 W. Seventh St, Suite 930, Los Angeles, CA. 90017. 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

7. This action for patent infringement arises under the Patent Laws of the 

United States, 35 U.S.C. § 1 et. seq.  This Court has original jurisdiction under 28 

U.S.C. §§ 1331 and 1338. 

8. This Court has both general and specific jurisdiction over Netflix 

because Netflix has committed acts within the Central District of California giving 

rise to this action and has established minimum contacts with this forum such that 

the exercise of jurisdiction over Netflix would not offend traditional notions of fair 

play and substantial justice.  Defendant Netflix, directly and through subsidiaries, 

intermediaries (including distributors, retailers, franchisees and others), has 

committed and continues to commit acts of patent infringement in this District, by, 

among other things, making, using, testing, selling, licensing, importing and/or 

offering for sale/license products and services that infringe the Asserted Patents.  

9. Venue is proper in this district and division under 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1391(b)-(d) and 1400(b) because Netflix has committed acts of infringement in the 

Central District of California and has multiple regular and established places of 

business in the Central District of California. 

COUNT I – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 8,407,609 

10. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

11. The ’609 patent, titled “System and Method For Providing And 

Tracking The Provision of Audio and Visual Presentations Via A Computer 
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Network,” issued on March 26, 2013.  A copy of the ’609 patent is attached as 

Exhibit A.  

12. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’609 patent is presumed valid. 

13. Upon information and belief, Netflix makes, uses, offers for sale, sells 

in the United States, licenses in the United States and/or imports into the United 

States Netflix Service which provides a method for tracking digital media 

presentations (collectively the “Accused Infringing Devices”).  

14. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

15. The Accused Infringing Devices track digital media presentations 

delivered from a first computer system to a user’s computer via a network. 

 
 
Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 9. 

 

Case 8:18-cv-01899   Document 1   Filed 10/23/18   Page 4 of 37   Page ID #:4



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

   
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01899  

 

4 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 30. 

16. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a corresponding web page to 

the user’s computer for each digital media presentation to be delivered using the 

first computer system.  

 

 
 

Source: Screenshot 
 

17. The Accused Infringing Devices provide identifier data to the user’s 

computer using the first computer system. 

 

Case 8:18-cv-01899   Document 1   Filed 10/23/18   Page 5 of 37   Page ID #:5



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

   
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01899  

 

5 

 
 
Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 9. 

 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 30 
 

18. The Accused Infringing Devices provide an applet to the user’s 

computer for each digital media presentation to be delivered using the first 

computer system.  In particular, the Accused Infringing Devices provide a script 

that keeps track of how much of the presentation the user has watched, thus 

reflecting the operation of a time running in the background. 
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Source: Script from http://codex.nflxext.com. 

 

 
 

Source: Screenshot 
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 24. 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 29. 
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 30. 
 

19.   The Accused Infringing Devices receive at least a portion of the 

identifier data from the user’s computer responsively to the timer applet each time a 

predetermined temporal period elapses using the first computer system.  The 

Accused Infringing Devices maintain a viewing history for each user, shown below 

as a collection of consecutive viewing records.  Each viewing record includes a 

ViewRecordKey to identify a program as well as the duration, position and last 

modified timestamp at the time the viewing record was updated.  The viewing 

record is updated periodically, at least when a heartbeat is sent reflecting operation 

of a timer.  
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 30. 

 
20. In addition, the Accused Infringing Devices’ player periodically sends 

a heartbeat to the server to indicate the current playback position in the event the 

user needs to return to the current position in the event of an error or crash.  The 

heartbeat is associated with the active session, which by defintion, must identify the 

user.  The heartbeat is sent at predetermined intervals.  The Accused Infringing 

Devices also take snapshots of the viewing history, including positions, at intervals. 

 

 

Case 8:18-cv-01899   Document 1   Filed 10/23/18   Page 10 of 37   Page ID #:10



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

   
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01899  

 

10 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 31. 
 

21. The Accused Infringing Devices store data indicative of the received at 

least portion of the identifier data using the first computer system.  The user’s 

viewing history, updated every time a heartbeat is sent, is stored by the Accused 

Infringing Devices using one of Cassandra, the Viewing History Tier or 

memcached, as shown below.  

 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 42. 
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 45. 
 

 
 

Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 59. 
 

22. Each provided webpage causes corresponding digital media 

presentation data to be streamed from a second computer system (e.g., the content 

delivery network, e.g., NOpen Connect), distinct from the user’s computer 

independent of the first computer system (e.g., the Netflix website). 
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Source: https://media.netflix.com/en/company-blog/how-netflix-works-with-isps-around-the-
globe-to-deliver-a-great-viewing-experience. 

 
23. The stored data is indicative of the amount of time the digital media 

presentation is streamed from the second computer system to the user’s computer.  

The stored data indicates the duration and position of the user’s current position, 

which indicates the amount of time the presentation has been streamed to the user’s 

computer by the CDN.  
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 29. 
 

24. Each stored data is together indicative of a cumulative time the 

corresponding web page was displayed by the user’s computer.  The user visits 

netflix.com, which displays tiles and information screens for movies and TV shows.  

When the user elects to stream a movie or TV show, the player is loaded on the 

same page.  The amount of time the user spends watching a movie or TV show is 

tracked by Netflix and also reflects the amount of time the preceding webpage was 

displayed by the user’s computer. 
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Source: https://www.slideshare.net/PhilipFisherOgden/netflix-viewing-history-ebjug-2014 at 29. 
 

25. Netflix has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’609 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling, 

licensing and/or importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(a). 

26. Upon information and belief, Netflix may have infringed and 

continues to infringe the ’609 patent through other software and devices utilizing 

the same or reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the 

Accused Infringing Devices.  

27. Netflix’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Netflix’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial.   

COUNT II – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,584,229 

28. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

29. The ’229 patent, titled “Macroblock-Based Object-Oriented Coding 
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Method Of Image Sequence Having A Stationary Background,” issued on June 24, 

2003.  A copy of the ’229 patent is attached as Exhibit B.  

30. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’229 patent is presumed valid. 

31. Upon information and belief, Netflix makes, uses, offers for sale, sells 

in the United States, licenses in the United States and/or imports into the United 

States products and services that use VP9 video encoding for coding image signals 

(collectively the “Accused Infringing Devices”).  

32. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

33. The Accused Infringing Devices practice a method for use in a macro-

block based object oriented coding of an image signal using the VP9 codec wherein 

the image signal has a stationary background region and an object region and 

contains a current frame and a previous frame, each frame including a plurality of 

macroblocks. 

 

 
 

Source: https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/more-efficient-mobile-encodes-for-netflix-
downloads-625d7b082909 
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Source: https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/more-efficient-mobile-encodes-for-netflix-
downloads-625d7b082909 

 

 
 

Source: https://tools.ietf.org/id/draft-grange-vp9-bitstream-00.html#rfc.section.2.1 
 

34. Netflix supplies VP9 sample test files to developers.  Those samples 

demonstrate the block based coding of video images.  

 

Case 8:18-cv-01899   Document 1   Filed 10/23/18   Page 17 of 37   Page ID #:17



1 

2 

3 

4 

5 

6 

7 

8 

9 

10 

11 

12 

13 

14 

15 

16 

17 

18 

19 

20 

21 

22 

23 

24 

25 

26 

27 

28 

 

 

   
COMPLAINT – CASE NO. 8:18-CV-01899  

 

17 

 
 

 
 

Source: https://github.com/Netflix/vp9-dash/blob/master/DASH-
Samples/Fountain_2997_3000kbps_1280x720_1x1PAR.ivf 

 
35. VP9 coding uses segmentation to group together blocks with common 

characteristics, including static background and moving foreground (object) 

regions. 
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Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 
 

36. The Accused Infringing Devices use inter mode prediction at a block 

level to predict a current block relative to a reference frame.  The frame is coded 

using a variety of block sizes and a plurality of blocks to encode the image.  
 

 
 

 
 

Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 

37. The Accused Infringing Devices use VP9 segmentation to divide the 

inputted video into a stationary background and the object region on a block by 

block basis to create segmentation maps.  For INTER blocks, VP9 uses the 
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calculation of motion vectors temporally between frames to find a difference 

(residual) between blocks in a given frame (next frame) and a reference frame.  
 

 
 
Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 

 

 
 

Source: https://www.encoding.com/vp9/ 
 

 
 

Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 
 

38. The Accused Infringing Devices code macroblocks into segments 
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(regions) on a block by block basis to create segmentation maps that code the shape 

information.  
 

 
 
Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 

 

 
 

Source: Frame from the sample file showing VP9 image blocks using a VP9 analyzer showing 
the use of blocks and segments. 
 

39. The Accused Infringing Devices use the well-known coding technique 

of motion vectors, prediction residuals and transform coding to code the pixel 

information of blocks in an object region by using, for example, INTER block 

coding.  
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Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 
 

40. The Accused Infringing Devices use segments that are background 

(static) regions of inter blocks which contain blocks that are encoded from a fixed 

reference (previous) frame.  The coded pixel information for a block contains the 

residual between the previous frame and the current frame, which can be zero 

(skip), using the coded pixel information of a previous frame block corresponding 

to a current frame block (only a motion vector pointing to the reference frame).  
 

 
 

Source: https://files.meetup.com/9842252/Overview-VP9.pdf 
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Source: Frame from the sample file showing VP9 image blocks marked as skipped (Skip) using a 
VP9 analyzer. 
 

41. Below shows a frame from the sample file showing a block marked as 

skipped in Segment 0, referencing a previous frame (Reference 0) and a motion 

vector using a VP9 analyzer. 
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Source: Frame from the sample file showing a block marked as skipped in Segment 0, 
referencing a previous frame (Reference 0) and a motion vector using a VP9 analyzer. 

 
42. The Accused Infringing Devices provide the ability to store the result 

of the video encoding to a file by creating downloadable coded data.  
 

 
 

 
 

Source: https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/more-efficient-mobile-encodes-for-netflix-
downloads-625d7b082909 

 
43. The Accused Infringing Devices use INTER blocks marked as skipped 

(skip flag is true) to code a block without sending any coded pixel information for a 

macroblock in the current frame.  

44. The decision to skip the coding of pixel information is based on a 

difference in pixel value for a macroblock between the current macroblock, and its 

corresponding macroblock in a previous frame.  This difference is based on a test 

statistic between the macroblock in the current frame and a reference frame. 
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45. The Accused Infringing Devices perform this step by using test 

statistics such as variance, or the magnitude of the residual frequency components 

in macroblock to be coded or skipped, with comparisons to predetermined 

thresholds of zero for the variance, ac_thr for the AC coefficients and dc_thr for 

the DC coefficient.  
 

 
 

Source: 
https://chromium.googlesource.com/webm/libvpx/+/master/vp9/encoder/vp9_pickmode.c 
 

46. Netflix has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’229 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling, 

licensing and/or importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. 

§ 271(a). 

47. Upon information and belief, Netflix may have infringed and 

continues to infringe the ’229 patent through other software and devices utilizing 

the same or reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the 

Accused Infringing Devices.  

48. Netflix’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Netflix’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

COUNT III – INFRINGEMENT OF U.S. PATENT NO. 6,519,005 

49. The allegations of paragraphs 1-9 of this Complaint are incorporated 

by reference as though fully set forth herein. 
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50. The ’005 patent, titled “Method of Concurrent Multiple-Mode Motion 

Estimation For Digital Video,” issued on February 11, 2003.  A copy of the ’005 

patent is attached as Exhibit C.  

51. Pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 282, the ’005 patent is presumed valid. 

52. On information and belief, Netflix makes, uses, offers for sale, sells in 

the United States, licenses in the United States and/or imports into the United States 

products and services such as its H.264 encoders that practice a method for motion 

coding an uncompressed digital video data stream (collectively the “Accused 

Infringing Devices”).  

53. Upon information and belief, the Accused Infringing Devices infringe 

at least claim 1 in the exemplary manner described below. 

54. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for motion coding 

an uncompressed (pixel level) digital video data stream.  The Accused Infringing 

Devices receive input video streams which are then encoded and/or transcoded 

using at least the H.264 standard.  The H.264 standard is a widely used video 

compression format with decoder support on web browsers, TVs and other 

consumer devices.  Moreover, H.264 uses motion compressor and estimator for 

motion coding video streams.  

 

 
 

Source: https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/optimized-shot-based-encodes-now-streaming-
4b9464204830 
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Source: https://medium.com/netflix-techblog/high-quality-video-encoding-at-scale-
d159db052746 

 
 

 
 

 

 
 

H.264 Encoder Block Diagram 
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Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf 

55. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for comparing 

pixels of a first pixel array (e.g., a macroblock) in a picture currently being coded 

with pixels of a plurality of second pixel arrays in at least one reference picture and 

concurrently performing motion estimation for each of a plurality of different 

prediction modes in order to determine which of the prediction modes is an 

optimum prediction mode. 

56. H.264 uses different motion estimation modes in inter-frame 

prediction.  These modes are commonly referred to as inter-frame prediction 

modes, or inter modes.  Each inter mode involves partitioning the current 

Macroblock into a different combination of sub blocks, and selecting the optimum 

motion vector for the current Macroblock based on the partition. The inter-frame 

prediction modes, or inter modes, can be further categorized by the number and 

position of the reference frames, as well as the choice of integer pixel, half pixel 

and quarter pixel values in motion estimation.  The Netflix H.264 encoders 

concurrently perform motion estimation of a Macroblock for all inter-modes and 

select the most optimum prediction mode with least rate distortion cost.  
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Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 30 
 

57. H.264 provides a hierarchical way to partition a Macroblock, with the 

available partitions shown in the following two figures. An exemplary inter-frame 

prediction mode, or inter mode, can be for a Macroblock to be partitioned to 

encompass a 16x8 sub block on the left, and two 8x8 sub blocks on the right.  
 

Macroblock partitions for inter-frame prediction modes 

 
 

30

Mode Decision
16x16 luma Macroblock

Intra Modes
(For all frames)

Inter Modes (Only 
for P and B-frames)

• Nine 4x4 Modes
• Four 16x16 Modes

• Macroblock partitions: 
16x16,16x8,8x16, 
8x8,8x4,4x8,4x4
• Use of reference frames
• Use of integer, half and 
quarter pixel motion 
estimation

• Each mode (inter or intra) has an associated Rate-Distortion (RD) 
cost.
• Encoder performs mode decision to select the mode having the least 
RD cost.  This process is computationally intensive.

4

Macroblock Partitions

16x16

8x8 8x8

8x8 8x8

16x8 16x8

8x16

8x16

16x16 16x16

8x8

4x4

4x44x4

4x4

8x4 8x4

8x8

4x8

4x8

8x8

16x16 blocks can 
be broken into 
blocks of sizes 
8x8, 16x8, or 8x16.

8x8 blocks can be 
broken into blocks 
of sizes 4x4, 4x8, 
or 8x4. 
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Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 4 
 

H.264 provides macroblock partitions for inter-frame prediction modes 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 26 

58. The optimum prediction mode as chosen for the current Macroblock is 

embedded in the compressed bit stream of H.264, as shown in the following two 

syntaxes. 
 

Macroblock prediction syntax in H.264 
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Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 57 
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Sub-macroblock prediction syntax in H.264 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010) at p. 58 

59. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for determining 

which of the second pixel arrays (e.g., macroblock) constitutes a best match with 

respect to the first pixel array (e.g., macroblock) for the optimum prediction mode.  
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Source: B. Juurlink et al., Scalable Parallel Programming Applied to H.264, Chapter 2: 
Understanding the Application: An Overview of the H.264 Standard, p. 12 

 
60. For example, the encoder performs mode decision to select the most 

optimum prediction mode with least rate distortion cost. 

 
Macroblock layer semantics 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010), p. 100 
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Mode Decision 

 
 

Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 30 
 

61. The Accused Infringing Devices provide a method for generating a 

motion vector for the first pixel array in response to the determining step.  The 

encoder calculates the appropriate motion vectors and other data elements 

represented in the video data stream. 
 

 
 

Source: B. Juurlink et al., Scalable Parallel Programming Applied to H.264, Chapter 2: 
Understanding the Application: An Overview of the H.264 Standard, p. 12 
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Motion Vector Derivation is described below 

 
 

Source: H.264 Standard (03-2010), p. 151 
 

H.264 Encoder Block Diagram 

 
 

Source: https://courses.cs.washington.edu/courses/csep590a/07au/lectures/rahullarge.pdf, p. 2 
 

62. Netflix has infringed, and continues to infringe, at least claim 1 of the 

’005 patent in the United States, by making, using, offering for sale, selling, 

licening and/or importing the Accused Infringing Devices in violation of 35 U.S.C. 
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§ 271(a). 

63. Upon information and belief, Netflix may have infringed and 

continues to infringe the ’005 patent through other software and devices utilizing 

the same or reasonably similar functionality, including other versions of the 

Accused Infringing Devices.  

64. Netflix’s acts of direct infringement have caused and continue to cause 

damage to Uniloc and Uniloc is entitled to recover damages sustained as a result of 

Netflix’s wrongful acts in an amount subject to proof at trial. 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF 

WHEREFORE, plaintiffs Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing USA LLC 

respectfully pray that the Court enter judgment in their favor and against Netflix as 

follows: 

a. A judgment that Netflix has infringed one or more claims of the 

’609 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

b. A judgment that Netflix has infringed one or more claims of the 

’229 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

c. A judgment that Netflix has infringed one or more claims of the 

’005 Patent literally and/or under the doctrine of equivalents;  

d. That for each Asserted Patent this Court judges infringed by 

Netflix this Court award Uniloc its damages pursuant to 35 U.S.C. § 284 and any 

royalties determined to be appropriate; 

e. That this be determined to be an exceptional case under 35 

U.S.C. § 285 and that Uniloc be awarded enhanced damages up to treble damages 

for willful infringement as provided by 35 U.S.C. § 284; 

f. That this Court award Uniloc prejudgment and post-judgment 

interest on its damages; 

g. That Uniloc be granted its reasonable attorneys’ fees in this 
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action; 

h. That this Court award Uniloc its costs; and 

i. That this Court award Uniloc such other and further relief as the 

Court deems proper.  

DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL 

Uniloc hereby demands trial by jury on all issues so triable pursuant to Fed. 

R. Civ. P. 38. 

 
Dated: October 23, 2018 
 

FEINBERG DAY ALBERTI LIM & 
BELLOLI LLP  
 
By:  /s/ M. Elizabeth Day 

 M. Elizabeth Day 
 

Attorneys for Plaintiffs 
Uniloc 2017 LLC and Uniloc Licensing 
USA LLC  
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